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FOREWORD


by R. JOHN CROFT





I remember my great aunt as someone who was really interesting to listen to. She had gone through many hardships, achieving so much in a period when such feats were restricted or difficult for women to accomplish. In her life she met so many people from all walks of life and she was fascinated by what people did, especially if they had a skill of their own, or were, just very fascinating people. Laura had a personality such that all people – be they closely knit communities such as Yorkshire fisher folk and gypsies; or professionals of many varied disciplines such as the ballet, theatre, musicians, authors and writers, circus; captains of industry; or the aristocracy – all warmly accepted her within their specialist areas, or community and many became close friends.


Over the past forty years many people have written a variety of articles and books about my great aunt. Understandably each writer has had to depend heavily on the artist’s two autobiographies. These I would personally recommend to all enthusiasts of the artist to read, in that they provide a wonderful insight of the wide range of different people she met, major events in her life, together with some fascinating anecdotes, written in her own inimitable style. However recognising the age of Laura Knight at the time of writing each of her autobiographies (nearly 60 and 88), we must allow for a little forgetfulness or a clouding of memory. As a result on occasion certain events get slightly out of chronological order or incorrect years are given. It must also be acknowledged that the artist did not have the research aids that we have today of the internet and archive records that are now digitally recorded.


Unfortunately in recent years most of the writers on Laura Knight appear to have relied almost entirely on just the autobiographies and have undertaken little further research. Several writers have made erroneous assumptions not based upon fact, and others have purported to be somehow privy to the artist’s innermost thoughts and feelings, some of which one would not reveal to even the closest of friends let alone a stranger. Regrettably many of these unfounded assumptions, and unsupportable intimate views, have over time become so often repeated by succeeding writers that lamentably they are now viewed as factual.


On meeting Barbara for the first time, I quickly recognised that here was a different writer, one who was not only fascinated about the artist and wanted to write about her – but one who applied the method of “looking outside the box”, more like a detective looking at not only current evidence (autobiographies, biographies and journal articles) but also by deep research seeking evidence not looked at before, and one not prone to making unfounded assumptions; with the final object of providing a more enlightened report for others (the reader) to make judgements if necessary.


Based upon Barbara’s fresh approach, I advised her that she could have access to any information from my family papers, or records that I have obtained whilst currently compiling my Catalogue Raisonné on both Laura and Harold’s works. In consequence the reader now has a more precise and accurate historical record of when events took place, and when certain paintings were executed or exhibited, as well as some material never before made public. Barbara has made it clear that she wished this to be a biography, not an art or picture book. As a consequence, the illustrations included here relate to the phases, events and the people in the artist’s life.


Of the many hundreds of interesting people who came into the long life of Laura Knight, both famous and the not so famous, all could not be mentioned without making the book too voluminous. In addition my own records may well regrettably have gaps that still need to be filled for the compilation of my Catalogue Raisonné. So if readers wonder why their distant relatives have not been mentioned in this biography, do please understand and perhaps contact me with your own information to enhance the Catalogue.


Barbara C. Morden’s biography is a book I recommend to all collectors and lovers of Laura Knight and her works, as well as students of British art of the 20th century.


 


R. John Croft, Chairman Dame Laura Knight Trust


and great nephew of the artist’



















INTRODUCTION


“I can twist and turn”
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A Crowd, 1923, etching and aquatint. Private collection








This is the story of Dame Laura Knight. A biography rather than a picture-book, it is a pen-portrait of a vibrant and colourful personality who not only lived for and through her art, but was blessed with the art of living. Born in 1877 and dying a month short of her ninety third birthday in 1970, hers was a long life, shaped by the rapid and at times cataclysmic social, cultural and historical changes of the early modern period.


The narrative line of her story tells of a modest and at times impoverished childhood in Nottingham in the 1880s and how finally she was hailed as a national and international celebrity: a woman of achievement. However, the finer detail and nuances of her life are not so easily grasped. Much documentary evidence is scattered through her two autobiographies: Oil Paint and Grease Paint, published when she was fifty-nine in 1936 and The Magic of a Line published when she was eighty-eight in 1965. There is one near-contemporary biography Laura Knight, written by Janet Dunbar who met and conversed with Laura when she was in her nineties. This was published in 1975 five years after her death.


Over the decades Laura’s correspondence was as prolific as her social circle was wide. In her letters, usually written in haste, she could be effusive or at times abrupt. When she was so minded she wrote well with lyrical and dramatic expression that led to her trying her hand at poetry and writing for the theatre. However diverse and fascinating this material, her versatility, energy and ambition are best expressed through her paintings of children and landscapes; numerous pencil and charcoal sketches, pictures and prints of the theatre, ballet, flamenco dancers, acrobats and circus animals; commercial posters and designs for commemoration mugs and dinnerware. Her repertoire was extensive and her output substantial.


After a period of neglect, her work is now in process of re-assessment, but in the mid 20th century she was a celebrated figure – a “national treasure”. Books and articles about Laura Knight were adulatory and often sentimental: “marvellous” was the adjective increasingly applied to her in later years. When she wrote about herself, she could be self-deprecating as well as boldly self-confident, occasionally brash. Her narrative style, especially in the first of her two autobiographies, Oil Paint and Greasepaint, is engaging and vivid – the result of her tendency to shift the tense of her sentences from the past to the dramatic present and include snatches of half-remembered conversation. The effect is disarmingly naïve, apparently candid, somewhat scatterbrained, effervescent and sparkling – like the champagne she so enjoyed when elderly and famous.


Hers was a distinctively idiosyncratic character – kaleidoscopic, with facets constantly shifting into new and brilliant patterns so that only very rarely can we grasp a steady, objective view of Laura Knight. She describes her childhood self in these words: ‘I can turn and twist through any crowd no matter how they try to catch me – it’s as if to say “They shan’t touch me” and they can’t, no matter how close I am’. It was a characteristic that persisted throughout her adult life.


In the opening chapter of her first autobiography Laura Knight asserts that she ‘was not, as some people think, born in a circus, suckled by an elephant’, or ‘tossed on the feet of an acrobat’. Nor was she born into extreme poverty or orphaned as a child, which are other myths perpetuated even today. Yet clearly she enjoyed such speculation and mystery and was in no hurry to set the records absolutely straight. Indeed, she herself contributed in great measure to the mythologizing of her life. Her self-portraits (Plate 1), whether in words or paint, are shifting and ambiguous. Always it seems she is glancing past us, turning away to engage with the next subject to capture the eye and interest. She is present but with her back turned, face shaded by the brim of her trademark trilby hat, on the margins, in the wings, behind the curtain, directing the sightline away from subjective feeling, delineating herself in primary colours and bold lines, avoiding the shades of deep reflection. Her focus is never analytical or soul searching, but dedicated to the communication and affirmation of her single-minded obsession: that she was born to draw and paint. It is as an artist that she wished to be known and as an artist that she is remembered and celebrated. In life, she was reputed to be very good company – I hope that you too will find her so.
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Family photograph (1970s copy) of baby Laura, her mother and sisters, c.1878. Nottinghamshire Archive

























CHAPTER ONE


“Our unconventional household”





The house that Laura Johnson first associated with home was 9, Noel Street, Nottingham. The move there by hansom cab from her place of birth, Long Eaton, Derbyshire, formed her earliest infant memory. She describes the experience early in Oil Paint and Greasepaint. Seated in the lap of her great-grandmother, known as “Little Grandma”, with her ‘old brown nut-cracker face’ where the chin and nose well-nigh met, framed by a black cap with lappets and ribbons over her ears, shawl, black silk apron and red-mittened hands, she remembers the clip-clop sound of the horse’s hooves beneath her. These sensations, combined with the smell of resin from the drawer that served as her temporary cot on her first night at the house, mark her awakening into consciousness. They are expressed in a manner typically her own in which colour and texture, together with sound and smell coalesce in the narrative line to communicate a sense of immediacy, of “living the moment”. This quality was to characterize her personality and her painting throughout her life.


Laura’s great-grandmother, known as ‘Little Grandma’, was Mary Broomhead. Born in 1792, she was the daughter of Joseph and Ann Broomhead of the village of East Leake, a few miles south of Nottingham and close to the Leicestershire border. In the 18th century East and its neighbour West Leake were known for their cottage industries of weaving, hosiery and basket-making. Little Grandma was trained as a stay-maker (corsetry) which, given that the making of hosiery (a word meaning not merely stockings but underwear generally) was a staple industry in East Leake, is not surprising. At the time of her birth the stay-making industry was in decline nationally, stays becoming much reduced in size and shape because of the growing fashion for the high-waisted Empire style. However, the old fashioned and substantial stomachers which were boned and laced to structure the bust, waist and hips were still worn by older women. It was family tradition that Little Grandma visited the Royal Court to measure the Queen for stays. That Queen Charlotte, the consort of King George III, wore the stomacher can be affirmed by portraits. The story is also endorsed by the appropriation of Charlotte as a family name. In 1813 Little Grandma named her first daughter (known to Laura as ‘Big Grandma’) Charlotte after the Queen. In 1853 she in turn called her second daughter (Laura’s Mother) Charlotte, who was to baptise her eldest girl Charlotte Ellen in 1873. All, it seems, can be attributed to Little Grandma’s having worked by “Royal Appointment”.


It was while she was at Court, most likely at Brighton, that Mary Broomhead met Charles Ther whose surname was variously spelt Ther, Thir, or Thur, reflecting local dialect and the oral transmission of information to registrars. Little is known about Charles Ther apart from his baptism on the 15th August 1792. One family tradition suggested that he was musical, and had played the “serpent” (a form of early tuba) in a church band. It was also claimed that he was descended from royalty – be it on the “wrong side of the blanket” – for it was said that he had been brought up in the household of the Duke of Richmond and called the housekeeper “Aunt”. Other less romantic stories describe him as an engineer who worked on the first railway tunnel in England and that he was working on another such project when he died, aged fifty two, at Ely in 1845. What we do know for certain is that Charles was a militia man and at a time of continuing fear of French invasion would have been stationed at various locations in the south of England. A man in uniform has attraction, and Mary was soon pregnant with their first child Owen. Born out of wedlock in 1812 the baby died in infancy but the next year another, a girl, was on the way. This was Charlotte (Laura’s Big Grandma) whose birth prompted their marriage in December 1813 at the church of St Nicholas, Brighton.


In 1818 Charles Ther was with the Royal South Lincolnshire Militia and living in Stamford. The births of three of their subsequent children, Ann, Charles and Sarah were all registered there between the years 1818 and 1822. However, there is evidence of an on-going connection with Nottingham, since their second son William was registered in Radford, Nottingham in 1815. This, the year of Waterloo, marked the end of hostilities and the exile of Napoleon to St Helena. The peace brought celebration and the militias were stood-down, so a visit to East Leake and Nottingham to visit family would be in order and appropriate for Mary’s latest lying-in. They were certainly back in Nottingham in July 1820 when Charlotte was christened along with her brother William at St Mary’s Church in the Lace Market. It is likely that by this time Charles was attached to a Nottingham militia. After the Peterloo Massacre of 1819, continuing social unrest associated with demands for political reform, machine-breaking and food riots meant the mustering and deployment of part-time militiamen throughout the industrial Midlands. The couple’s seventh child George was born in Radford, Nottingham in 1824; Hannah in 1826; Elizabeth in 1829; Emma in 1832 and Henry in 1834. Charles’ continuing unsettled life-style over the years is reflected in the christening and marriage registers of his and Mary’s children where he is described variously as labourer, mechanic and lace-maker. To help the reader navigate through this large family, please turn to the end of the chapter for a table which gives the basic details, as far as they are known, of the eleven children of Mary Broomhead and Charles Ther.


Apparently, after Henry’s birth, Mary had had enough. She told her husband Charles that she had never liked him and was leaving. Perhaps the decision was finally prompted by Charles’ continuing association with the militias. In the years 1831 and 1832 violent protest over the passage of the Great Reform Bill brought the nation close to revolution and Nottingham was a hot-spot of agitation. Laura’s maternal grandfather Stephen Bates was there in the crowd when a mob burned down the old Nottingham Castle in 1831. The Government lost control of the town for a while until the local militia, whose brutality was notorious, managed to gain the upper-hand. As one of them – a militia man in the pay of the government – Charles Ther would be regarded by family and neighbours with resentment, even hate. From this time onwards Mary Ther set herself up as an independent agent.


The 1841 Census describes Mary Ther as living in Radford, Nottingham, with six of her children. In 1848 she is described in Kelly’s Directory as ‘stay-maker of Ilkeston Road, Nottingham’. Now a successful businesswoman, by this time Mary’s expertise in corset-making would once again be in demand since fashion had returned to a restricted, shaped female silhouette with low shoulders, a narrow pointed waist with skirts beginning to evolve into the bell shape that was typical of the high Victorian period. Over the years she never lost any of her spirit and spontaneity. This is best illustrated by the tale that in 1845, on hearing that her estranged husband Charles was on the point of death, she set off at once by train to Ely, Cambridgeshire, to slap his face as a last tribute. She arrived too late for these final offices – the coffin lid had already been nailed down. Mary’s impetuosity and wilfulness, together with her gruff manner and inclination to utter improper innuendo, mark her as very much a Regency character. This was at odds with the general tenor of respectable Victorian society and the more reserved nature of her daughters. However, it is worth noting that these were character traits inherited by Laura, her favourite great-grandchild.


Sometime in the late 1860s Little Grandma went to live with her daughter Charlotte (Big Grandma) and she remained there until her death aged ninety seven in May 1889. Short tempered and sharp, Little Grandma had little sentiment in her soul. On receiving the news of the death of her second eldest daughter Ann in Queensland, Australia where she had emigrated with her husband, Little Grandma snapped: ‘Well she lived to a good old age’ and that was that. All the Ther children who lived into adulthood were in some way associated with the lace or hosiery industry either locally in Nottingham, in northern France or in America. Of particular importance to Laura’s story was Elizabeth (baptised in 1829) who with her husband Arthur John (Jack) West (they married at Radford in 1848) ran a lace factory at St Quentin in France. Formally known as Aunt West-Ther (she adopted the French fashion for appending her maiden to her married name), she was a frequent visitor to the house in Noel Street and was, to be a good friend to Laura and her sisters. The only Ther relative of her own age to figure in Laura’s memories of this time was a cousin Reggie, the son of Mother’s elder sister, Elizabeth (named after Aunt West). Laura describes him as a ‘mardy’ boy, a dialect word meaning spoilt and sulky. Clearly young Laura had no time for him.


Out of the extended family of Thers the ‘only creature’ that Little Grandma ‘had ever loved or spoken to kindly’ was her great granddaughter Laura. In return Laura writes of Little Grandma with fondness and pride for it was she who was allowed to vigorously comb out the old lady’s long hair (‘I like the scratching’) which had surprisingly little grey. Seated in her chair by the fire, Little Grandma would have a tipple of gin before bed and secrete sugar lumps from the tea-table in her apron pockets for later, while a row of mouldy oranges were ranged on the shelf above her head ‘getting ripe to eat’.


In 1837 Big Grandma Charlotte Ther married Stephen Bates, an inventor of lace–making equipment, at the Parish Church of Radford, Nottingham. Born in Duffield, Derbyshire in 1804, Stephen was from yeoman-farming stock. Derbyshire, like Nottinghamshire, has a tradition of textile production and weaving and it seems that over the generations various branches of the Bates family were associated with this. It is therefore no surprise that as a young man Stephen, recognizing the changing times in which he lived, moved into the expanding textile business. He left the countryside and migrated to where his talent for engineering might have some useful application – the invention and development of lace-making machinery. It appears that his business axis extended from Long Eaton in Derbyshire to Nottingham, the centre of lace production and distribution, some seven miles away.


Over the period when Stephen Bates was establishing himself, Long Eaton in Derbyshire was expanding rapidly from an agricultural village into a thriving lace-manufacturing town, connected to Nottingham by the Erewash Canal and the steam railway. There was plenty of work there for an engineer and inventor in the numerous lace-making factories being set up by entrepreneurs who were attracted to the town by the plentiful supply of workers migrating from rural districts and a lack of unionisation. Stephen is known to have set up a modest machine-making factory, but whether this was in Long Eaton or in Nottingham is not clear. That there was an on-going connection with Long Eaton is certain because it features in our story as the place where Laura’s mother, the younger Charlotte went to school, met her husband and, when newly married, lived. Laura was to be born in Long Eaton in 1877.


Despite this Long Eaton connection, it is the Radford district of Nottingham that is the most important location in the Bates-Ther story. It was there that Mary Ther had her stay-making business, and where Stephen Bates and Charlotte Ther married. In his Old Nottingham Suburbs: then and now (1914) the Nottinghamshire historian Robert Mellors describes the men of Radford as ‘figuring largely’ in the development of the lace machine. In relation to this, in the London Gazette of 3rd July 1865 there is an entry that ‘Stephen Bates of New Radford, in the county of Nottingham, Lace Manufacturer’ has given a patent notice in respect of the invention of ‘improvements in the manufacture or production of bobbin net or twist lace made on bobbin net or machines.’ The continuing association of the Bates and Ther families with Radford is significant to this story since it is the locality within which Laura and her sisters were brought up and educated.


From the 1790s the expansion of the Nottingham textile industries and the migration of hundreds of workers to support them meant that outlying rural villages to the north and west of the town such as Lenton and Radford expanded significantly. Hence we have New Lenton, and New Radford as well as the establishment of entirely new settlements at Carrington and Hyson Green further west. In 1845 formal legislation was passed to allow the enclosure of the open fields lying between these village cores and Nottingham town. As a result there was a speculative building boom and the area developed to provide mixed residential property and industrial workshops. Very soon the marshlands of the Vale of Leen and the sandstone rise above the old hunting grounds of Sherwood, were covered with rows of houses. It was in this area, contained by the Alfreton and Ilkeston Roads, bordered by The Forest and Arboretum Parks and quickly to merge with the district of Hyson (originally Ison) Green, that Stephen, Charlotte and their growing family of six children lived.


However inventive, Laura’s grandfather had little business acumen and, often neglecting to secure patents for his inventions, his ideas were appropriated by others. As a result he never made a fortune in the way that many did in those heady days of industrialized lace-making. His business certainly seems to have been conducted in an ad hoc manner. For example, in order to fund his projects, he turned his hand to making and selling lace from home, storing the cash in the house until needed. Laura retells Big Grandma’s probably highly exaggerated account (it was a trait inherited by Laura) of how ‘sacks and sacks of gold sovereigns’ were hoarded in their hot-water cistern to avoid the attention of thieves. To celebrate his first achievement at lace-making Stephen bought a grandfather clock that, along with a horsehair sofa and a red plush armchair, survived to be part of the furniture at Noel Street and were to continue as furnishings in Laura’s own story.


The Bates had seven children of whom six survived. Laura’s Mother was born in 1853, with an elder sister, Elizabeth, three older brothers, Stephen, George and Thomas and one younger of whom she was very fond, Arthur Peter, born in 1854. Not well-to-do but generally comfortable, the Bates family looked askance on neighbours who, having made money during the good times in the lace industry, had aspired to and had purchased smart new houses in The Park estate. Adjacent to Nottingham Castle and originally a private hunting ground, in the middle of the 19th century The Park was developed by the owner the 5th Duke of Newcastle as a residential enclave of exclusive Regency, Victorian Gothic and Italianate style villas: the best address in Nottingham. However, after the Franco-Prussian War of 1870–1 when the French imposed crippling tariffs on imported English lace, there was a major slump in the business and many of the nouveau riche residents of The Park found themselves unable to keep up their property or their life-style. Living in rented accommodation, the Bates were able to adjust to the fluctuations in the lace trade, reflected in their regular moves to houses each one less distinguished than the last and justified in the remembered litany: ‘trade’s bad this year’.


Stephen Bates died in 1874, leaving the business in the hands of his two elder sons, Stephen and George, who, by all accounts were ill-suited to the task. His wife Charlotte had to manage the household as finances drained away. It was a struggle, but, Big Grandma was capable: ‘Mrs Bates you are a marvel’ her friends would exclaim. Laura remembered her bright blue twinkling eyes (Laura, too had bright blue eyes) and the white lace cap that covered the silver hair that looped over her ears and was drawn into a knob at the back just like Queen Victoria. It was Big Grandma who found the house in Noel Street and provided stability and assurance for the family when little Laura and her two sisters, Nellie and Eva, arrived there with their Mother Charlotte in 1877. Situated within a mile north of the city centre, number 9 Noel Street is one half of Ethel Villas, a slate-roofed, three storied semi-detached house built on the ridge to the west of The Forest. Today the house is marked by a faded blue plaque testifying to Laura Johnson’s residence there as a child.


Now the site of the annual Nottingham Goose Fair, The Forest was initially designated for public recreational use in the 1840s and from 1865 to 1898 was the place where “Nottingham Forest” Football team played – although Laura and Harold were to be life-long supporters of the team from the other side of the River Trent: “Notts County”. During its planning Joseph Paxton (gardener and architect of the Crystal Palace for the Great Exhibition of 1851) was invited to design the network of walkways which traversed the park space. For the elevated houses at the better end of Noel Street it provided a salubrious aspect, overlooking the town racecourse, then in process of construction. Once established, the racecourse offered a glorious phantasmagoria show for the children observing from the balcony of number 9: horses and jockeys in brilliant silks, excited crowds in the red brick grandstand and beyond the tempting sight of fairground rides and sideshows. For little Laura it stimulated a life-long fascination with an alternative world, as she says: ‘Doubtless the early association with races, fairs and circuses laid the foundation of much of my later work’.


Born on the 4th August in 1877, Laura was the third child of Charlotte Bates and Charles William (Charlie) Johnson. As a young woman, Laura’s Mother had been singled out by her teacher at Long Eaton School as a promising art student who should develop her talent in Paris. For Charlotte in provincial Long Eaton, Paris with its reputation as the place for the student to learn the techniques of art in the teaching studios (ateliers) of the finest masters filled her hopes and dreams. The very idea met with scorn, for the Bates’ business was seriously unstable at that time and there was no spare money for such grandiose plans. Nor were they considered necessary or appropriate, since it was the strongly held opinion of Little Grandma that a woman’s destiny in life was to marry and have children. So, in her innocence Charlotte sought a man to marry who could support her and maybe help realize her aspirations as an artist. Then at the age of seventeen she met Charlie Johnson, handsome, worldly and two years her senior, at a Long Eaton “social”.


Charlie appeared to be gallant and sympathetic, but in truth he was “on the make”, fancying that an alliance with the young Charlotte would offer entry into a well-off family who would bank-roll his rakish life-style. They were married at St Mary’s Parish Church, Nottingham on the 31st December 1872. On the marriage certificate he is described as a “lace draper”. To Charlie’s disappointment, he discovered that his expectations were without foundation. The family were not rich and the 1870s were hard times for everyone in the lace industry. This fact, however, did not affect his plans. After their marriage he continued to indulge his bachelor habits and his hard drinking to the bitter disappointment of his young wife and despite a growing family. Charlotte Ellen (known as “Nellie”) was born on the 7th November 1873, while Evangeline (Eva) Agnes (known as “Sis” or “Sissie”) arrived 20th June in 1875 and Laura (“only Laura”) on the 4th August 1877. On Eva’s birth certificate, Charlie’s occupation is described as a “Licensed Victualler”, so clearly he had moved on from the wholesale and retailing of lace and become a pub landlord. Charlotte ended the marriage in the December of 1877, not long after Laura was born, and Charlie went out of their lives. In 1883 they heard that he had died (probably from alcoholism) at the age of thirty-seven. Charlotte and the girls then made their home in Noel Street, Nottingham with her mother, her grandmother, and younger brother Arthur Peter. In the complicated extended Bates-Ther family genealogy, these persons, along with Great Aunt West-Ther, were to be the central characters in Laura’s early life.


Arthur never married and, since his elder brothers were unreliable, shouldered much of the Bates’ business, making regular visits to St Quentin in Northern France where Aunt West-Ther and her husband Jack West, ran the French branch of the lace-making business. Big Grandma had been generous in helping them to set up the St Quentin factory and as it prospered, Aunt West was generous in return. Laura writes of Aunt West-Ther arriving like a good fairy with gifts when the girls were small. Once on one of her visits from France, she brought them a toy theatre with many changes of scenery. It was something that Laura, who herself was naturally theatrical, singled out as being a very special present indeed.


The house in Noel Street had three floors. On the ground floor was the living room and kitchen, while on the first floor Big Grandma, Little Grandma and Uncle Arthur Peter had their rooms. Young Charlotte and the girls occupied the third storey which, extending into the upper floor of their next door neighbours the Gutteridges, provided their sleeping space and well as a studio. Charlotte, now a single mother, was determined to make a living and pay her way. She offered art lessons to the daughters of local middle class families, teaching them the rudiments of painting and drawing and showing them ‘how to copy flowers on to stools, fire-screens and palm-leaf fans’. Always eager to continue her own education, she took up French classes and went to public lectures. In the 1881 census she described herself as “art student” for she was enrolled as a student at Nottingham School of Art, just up the road in Waverley Street, and attended classes in the evenings. When she could she would take the girls with her on painting expeditions. We can visualize the little troupe, walking (they could not afford a tram fare) ‘laden with paints and lunch’ out to the river Trent at Wilford two miles away.


Wilford was then a secluded picturesque village famous for its association with the early Romantic poet Henry Kirke White (1785–1806) who in his Lines Written in Wilford Churchyard described it as a ‘lovely spot’ with breezes ‘wafting gently o’er the rippling Trent’. Laura remembers her Mother painting a watercolour of Kirke White’s cottage while she attempted to sketch the Church, then all three girls settled down on the beach of shingle to imagine themselves at the seaside. It was to The Grange at Wilford that a distant relative, a George Bates who had made a fortune making mosquito nets in his factory in New Radford, was to move. His daughter Marjorie Christine Bates was a gifted artist. However, contrary to a popular Wilford myth, she is most unlikely to have been a playmate for Laura at that time. Not only was she eleven years younger but her family did not live at Wilford until the 1890s. Born in Melbourne, Derbyshire in 1888 Marjorie lived a privileged life, in due course attending the Nottingham School of Art, studying in Paris and exhibiting at the Royal Academy. Despite these similarities, neither the relationship nor other points of connection feature in Laura Knight’s reminiscences. Most likely the families were not in regular social contact, if at all.


The house at Noel Street was crowded and from Laura’s childhood perspective as she grew ever more tom-boyish and boisterous, restrictive and frustrating. This was especially the case when she was ordered to be quiet as Little Grandma (through age) and sometimes Big Grandma (through exhaustion) slept in the daytime. Laura’s memories of the house focus on a few key motifs: the ‘gas jets set in round opal globes’ illuminating the dining table where the girls did their homework; Mother at the sewing machine making her own and her daughters’ clothes; the attics, where Laura and her sisters played ‘with the lumber of past generations’, having braved the ‘dark creatures’ that inhabited the cistern cupboard at the head of the stairs; Little Grandma descending from her room backward down those stairs, nautical fashion, and Uncle Arthur Peter’s room, distinguished by a row of bottles of eau-de-cologne purchased on visits to France.


The only man in the house, something of a dandy and man-about-town, Uncle Arthur Peter had a sociable nature and many friends, usually Freemasons like himself. Laura offers us several images of him: Uncle Arthur asleep on the old horsehair sofa (with which Stephen and Charlotte had set up home), his face covered by a newspaper against the flies; Uncle Arthur bringing home washing baskets full of roses from his allotment at Hungerhills (a pound a year rental) – enough to fill ‘three cut-glass bowls’ followed by the harvest of plums, ‘as big as peaches’. The youngest of four surviving brothers, Arthur was resentful of his elder male siblings, Stephen and George. Despite having enjoyed a French education at the expense of Aunt West-Ther, in his opinion (probably coloured by a young lady’s having rejected his advances in preference to those of one of these brothers) they were ne’er-do-wells. In his opinion they were over-familiar with the factory hands and over-fond of beer. When they visited their Mother, Big Grandma Bates, they did so only to discuss money. At those times Laura learned to keep out of the way because afterwards Big Grandma would be upset. The other brother, Thomas, a good natured soul who ran the Ram Hotel in Long Row in the centre of Nottingham, died 1883 when Laura was quite small and was remembered only by Nellie and Sissy for his bringing them ‘goodies’. Laura recalls being sorry she was too young to have benefitted from knowing him.


Uncle Arthur Peter (the girls’ pet name for him was ‘Ninkie’) was a dominant presence in the household. Severely authoritarian at times and ebullient at others, Laura describes him as a volcanic personality. Fancying himself as something of a thespian, he would often beak forth into dramatic renditions, and she would mimic him in voice and gesture. In many ways they were two of a kind. Laura was always keen to perform. Mrs Hemans’ dramatic poem ‘The boy stood on the burning deck’ was her party-piece along with lines from the poet Thomas Hood, in particular ‘The Song of a Shirt’. In her renditions she displayed a precociousness that won her both admiration but also reproach from her elders.


Two of Arthur’s Masonic friends had a profound influence on the Johnson girls. There was Bill Stevenson who always brought them books and taught Laura the art of calligraphy, inscribing for her to copy wonderful graphic letters in the ledger that she was given for her infant drawing. Bill was funny, intelligent and attracted to Mother. They started to walk out together on a Sunday after church, the girls in their new mantles and Welsh pointed hats with pink and black bows that to their chagrin he called ‘jelly bags’. Bill’s visits stopped abruptly at the instance of Uncle Arthur whose words to his sister were blunt: ‘“What, you marry another poor man and come home with another family of children?”’. Laura as a child regretted his loss: ‘I could not help wishing that Bill Stevenson had been allowed to marry Mother’. As an adult she was to discover that Bill Stevenson had become a wealthy man. Then there was the Scotsman, John Cruickshank, like Uncle Arthur, a one-off or in local parlance an “unexpected”. A fervid tea-totaller, tall, well built, with a red pointed beard and always with a cigarette in his mouth, he was ‘gloriously unconventional’. Like a Pied Piper, followed by troops of children, he distributed pennies and sweets from his pockets as he walked. Mr Cruickshank’s business was as a paper merchant and he came to Nottingham every six weeks, bringing the girls nougat and sacks of drawing paper: ‘We worshipped Mr Cruickshank’, says Laura, ‘and my imagination gave his features to God’.


Laura was christened at the age of five on November 4th 1882 at St Peter’s Church, Radford. In the baptismal register, Laura’s deceased Father’s occupation was given as “inn-keeper” and the Bates’ family address as being number 35 Noel Street. This signals a major downturn in family circumstances. Number 35 was a smaller and cheaper house to rent. It was situated towards the bottom of the hill on what the local doctor declared to be a damp and unhealthy position, having been built on the site of the local cess-pit. Life by then was increasingly difficult for the household. Business was bad and the growing children put extra pressure on the finances. Yet despite this, Laura’s childhood memories are rich in colour and romance. Taught to read by Big Grandma from The Arabian Knights, she devoured books from Uncle Arthur’s bookcase such as the terrors of Edgar Allen Poe and the Ingoldsby Legends. Her Mother, feeding the spirit of wonderment in her girls, once picked Laura up from her bed to see the blaze of a factory fire in the distance and at another time roused them all to see the sun rise over the Forest racecourse. For Laura Nottingham was a magical place, with its folklore and legends of Sherwood and Robin Hood.


Originally the site of a Saxon settlement, the town of Nottingham was established by the Normans on a sandstone ridge overlooking the River Trent. This was where Nottingham Castle was subsequently built. Its history conjures up a drama of ill-fated campaigns and events starring romantic figures such as Richard the Lionheart who laid siege to the Castle in 1194. In 1330 it saw the capture and arrest of the de facto ruler of the kingdom Roger Mortimer, consort to Queen Isabella, the mother of Edward III. It was where Richard III’s campaign began in 1485, ending with the fatal Battle of Bosworth. In 1642 it was where Charles I raised the Royal standard, signalling the start of the Civil War.


In Asser’s Life of King Alfred, 900AD, Nottingham is named Tiggua Cobaucc, which means “place of caves” and for centuries the sandstone rock offered underground passages and caverns used for workshops and storage. An example can still be seen in the centre of the city. Originally a brewery, The Trip to Jerusalem Inn abuts the Castle Rock, with drinking rooms and cellars carved out of the sandstone at the time of the building of the Castle around 1068. Over the centuries more caves were excavated for living spaces, some ornately carved but, condemned as dangerous by Act of Parliament in 1845 and declared unsuitable for use as dwellings. However, Laura and her sister Sis were able to rent one to use as a studio – and bed sitting room in 1895.


Nottingham also has its elegant side. In the centre Georgian buildings are juxtaposed with impressive Victorian red brick warehousing with architectural features taken from the Gothic and vernacular past. In the Victorian period, the female workers in these palaces of industry earned the reputation for being the most beautiful girls in England. This was because its main signature product, lace (the others were to be the manufacture of Raleigh bicycles, Boots pharmaceutical products and John Player tobacco), was thought to make the factory girls pretty and feminine. It was a local habit to take visitors to the Lace Market at the end of a shift to view the girls and judge the prettiest. When telling her reader of this, Laura qualifies her remark: ‘handling lace was supposed to make them, dainty’ she says with a touch of irony – and perhaps with some justice. On leaving school in 1901, the writer D.H. Lawrence (some 10 years the junior of Laura Johnson) took up employment as a junior clerk at Haywood’s surgical appliance factory in the textile quarter of the city. He was soon forced to leave, having contracted severe pneumonia after attack by a gang of factory girls! The Haywood factory experience provided material for his semi-autobiographical novel Sons and Lovers (1913).


At the heart of Nottingham is the Old Market Square (otherwise known as “Lion” or “Slab Square”) of which the saying goes that the stone lions growl when a virgin passes by – which also justifies Laura’s scepticism. This was the meeting place and market for the original Saxon settlement and the subsequent Norman town and for seven hundred years, until 1928, it was the setting for the Goose Fair. This annual event provoked great excitement for the Johnson girls. In the sky ‘thick with smoke and October mist’, shadows flickered and loomed. In the darkness crowds thronged – women in their ‘bustles and the men in ‘billycock’ hats’, while a riot of spangles and feathers distinguished the attire of the show people, all to the accompaniment of the steam organs with their discordant clashing of cymbals and drums. It was a thrilling and a slightly frightening experience, for beneath the make-up and the costumes, Laura’s penetrating gaze notes pock-marked and ravaged faces, a life of hardship beneath the glamour.


These people lived a life on the edge, beyond the norms of provincial respectability. Somewhere deep inside it called to Laura. Never staying in one place long enough to be fully known or defined, the fairground, like the circus and the theatre, had a life-long fascination for her. She delighted in the artificiality, the costumes, the make-up and the lights, the drama of faces glimpsed in the press of the crowd. It is interesting to note that in her representation of Penzance Fair, dated 1916 when she was thirty nine, she pictures herself in that crowd. We see her in three quarter profile, wearing her favourite red jacket, a colour that advances her figure from the riot of shapes and detail. But, the image is slightly disturbing: her hair is in pigtails, the stance is nonchalant. It is as if she is affirming her essential self: childlike, spontaneous and insouciant, free of the conventions of the adult world. Her eyes, looking across the gap of years it seems, are fixed on a small fair-haired girl astride a “galloping horse” on the carousel who is also wearing red.










 





CHILDREN OF MARY BROOMHEAD AND CHARLES THER




 





Mary Charlotte Broomhead (Little Grandma)


Christened 8th November 1792, died 26th May 1889


Married 13th December 1813




 





Charles George Ther


Baptised 15th August 1792, died 1st July 1845


Had eleven children:




1. Owen born out of wedlock 1812, died 17th February 1812 near Dover


2. Charlotte Ther (Big Grandma) Born 18th December 1813, Nottingham, died 22nd September 1895, Nottingham. Married Stephen Bates 4th October 1837


3. William Ther Christened 21st July 1820, Nottingham, died 1882, New Brunswick USA. Married Hanna Coutts 1844


4. Ann Ther Christened 20th September 1818, Stamford Lincs. Married William Blazedale 1839, died Queensland, Australia


5. Charles Ther Christened 9th December 1820, Stamford Baron Northants, died Nottingham 1884.


1st Marriage: Ann Bennell 8th June 1840


2nd Marriage: Catherine Needham 27th December 1864


6 Sarah Ther Christened 5th March 1823, Stamford Baron Northants


7. George Ther Born c.1824 Nottingham. Married Emma Thompson 1842


8. Hanna Ther Born c.1826 Nottingham. Married Edward Wakefield 1846


9. Eliza Ther (Aunt West) Christened 1829 Nottingham,


Died 1902, St. Quentin France. Married Arthur John (“Jack”) West 1848


10. Emma Ther Christened January 1832, Nottingham.


Died 1907, New Jersey USA. Married Thomas Redfern 1852


12. Henry Ther Born c.1834 Nottingham.


Married cousin Ann Broomhead 1883





This information is provided courtesy of descendents of the Ther/Thir family.



















CHAPTER TWO


“Why must girls be pretty?”





Last in line for hand-me-downs, as a child Laura was condemned to wear a black velveteen frock for too many years for her comfort or dignity. She was at first proud of the black velveteen frock since no other children at school wore anything as distinctive, but as the pile wore on the elbows and bodice and it grew every day shorter and tighter, the black velveteen frock became an embarrassment. Once when walking back from school with her friend Norah Truman who lived on the Forest Road, they were caught in a rain shower. Perhaps this was the turning point of her relationship with the black velveteen frock because, expressing concern that the rain would spoil it, Norah’s blunt response was ‘should think it’d do it good’. That day Laura’s pride took a fall.


Laura’s oldest sister Nellie, growing into a young woman and blessed with ‘ripe-chestnut coloured hair’ like her Mother’s, was Laura’s idol. Her next sister, Sissie’s hair was bright gold, so gold it looked ‘false’. But Laura’s ‘bush of yellow hair’ refused to be tamed and resisted being curled into ringlets. When it was washed it stood ‘bolt upright’ in a most amazing way like “Shock-haired Peter” in Heinrich Hoffmann’s Strewwelpeter (1845). She considered this ‘fun’ and would ‘pull faces and do antics’ to frighten her sisters until Mother got angry and ordered her to stop the ‘mad excitement’. She had inherited Big Grandma’s bright blue eyes but her round pink and white face, was in no way conventionally pretty. Never called out in a game of “postman’s knock”, she was jealous of one of the other girls at school called Maisie who, having dark curls and melting brown eyes, always was. However, she could soon put such resentment to one side when, with her irrepressible energy and a sturdy frame, she outpaced all runners in school races and was in demand for team games.


Being dissatisfied with her female-dominated family, Laura conjured up for herself an imaginary alternative in which she was flanked by two brothers. She could visualize herself in ‘a smocked frock, red on white’ but found it difficult to picture the boys: ‘they are so much uglier’ asking the question: ‘Why must girls be pretty?’ Laura was famous in her family for being the tomboy. Often swinging on the horizontal bars outside the Boys’ High School and joining in their local street games, she would return home dishevelled and with grazed knees. ‘She should have been a boy’, Little Grandma often said, and Laura just as often wished that she was. When finances were stretched and the household had to dispense with the servant, the girls had to do a share of housework. Laura hated it but spent the penny a week earned on the Boys’ Own Paper which she read for the adventures and instructions as to how to ‘make things’. In winter she delighted in sliding in the gutters and skating over the frozen water meadows of the River Trent. While all three Johnson girls were excitable, Laura was volatile and free-spirited, living life with a passion that earned reprimand and warnings from neighbours that she would come to no good: ‘She ought to have a doctor – look at ’er – she must ’ave an abscess growing in ’er ’ead!’ Laura’s response was typical: ‘I was rather proud of having an abscess in my head’.


As a child she was a natural performer – never reluctant to recite or participate in school plays. Wearing her old velveteen frock which Mother lengthened with strips of wadding to simulate ermine, she was made for the part of the “Ugly” Duchess in the “Pig and Pepper” episode of Alice in Wonderland. She gloried in the ‘raging and tearing about’ while ‘everyone clapped to see me go mad and I loved it’. In the first version of her autobiography the sequence of reminiscence suddenly changes into the present tense and once again the wild child gesticulates and storms across the stage. Hidden within the same paragraph comes affirmation of her agility and confidence to evade other people’s prying eyes and analysis: ‘Sometimes when I draw I feel like when I am dodging in a crowd, and in some performances last Christmas, when I was playing the Ugly Duchess in Alice in Wonderland I’d feel the same’. This episode features in The Magic of a Line but it is in a lower key and being matter-of-fact reveals no insights into her evasive inner self. There she simply tells of how the first performance being so successful, repeat performances were requested and how in her enthusiasm one night she burst the box of powder which was serving for the stuffing for the baby, covering everything in a ‘mist of white dust’. That, she writes in The Magic of a Line, ‘put the kibosh on the whole thing’.


The girls were all competent artists but, to her Mother’s delight, from infancy Laura was naturally gifted, demanding only pencils and paper as her playthings. As a young child she amazed all with her ability to draw household objects and to copy whatever she could get her hands on. As a small child her exposure to art was confined to book illustrations, her Mother’s own water colour paintings and the efforts of Mother’s pupils whom Laura joined as soon as she was allowed. Very infrequently Mother took them to Church down the hill at Hyson Green, but it was infrequent since the girls would deliberately frustrate and delay preparations and often there was a lack of “Sunday best” clothes. On Sundays, when their neighbourhood ‘died … to the clanking of bells’, they were not allowed to either to draw or play, but could browse some old copies of Punch magazine. That this was suitable Sunday reading is questionable since what little Laura enjoyed most were the cartoons: ‘I loved John Leech and Charles Keen’s drunken men; Dumaurier’s drawings I did not like so well, but I could have passed an examination in any of the jokes!’ Since Uncle Arthur, being something of a collector, had a well-stocked bookcase, the girls knew Dickens by heart, particularly David Copperfield and Oliver Twist which were read and re-read. Laura liked Thackeray less, but was much taken by reference in Vanity Fair to a ‘soiree consisting of cold mutton’. It is noticeable that throughout her life details of food consumed (or the lack of it) is a predominant theme.


In 1879 when Laura was eight, Mother became ill and no one in the house could understand what was wrong or why. A letter dated 22 July 1885 written by Nellie to Uncle Arthur Peter, who at the time was on holiday with Mr Cruickshank, expresses the hope that that he is enjoying himself and continues: ‘We have been to your garden, Grandmamma, Sissy, Laura and I, and took our tea … Mamma is a great deal better, although she was very poorly yesterday’. It was Aunt West-Ther, on one of her visits, who recognized the symptoms of nervous exhaustion. She immediately offered to pay for her niece to have a change of air and scene. The girls were to be looked after by Big Grandma and Charlotte was to go to St Quentin for a couple of weeks and then stay with family friends in Paris where she was to enrol as a student at one of the painting schools on the Left Bank – all at her expense. Charlotte was to realize her dream.


Paris in the 1880s was an exciting place to visit. Haussmann’s recently built boulevards and smart cafés made it the most modern, stylish and progressive city in Europe. As a centre for the arts it had no rival. It was the most fashionable city in Europe and the centre of culture and art with its new Opera House (the Palais Garnier which had opened in 1879); its museums and picture galleries of which the Louvre was pre-eminent; the annual Salon exhibition (the equivalent of the Royal Academy in London) for contemporary fine art and from 1863 the Salon des Refusés which contained artworks that the Salon had rejected that year, allowing public display of the avant-garde. As a result Paris attracted painters, writers and intellectuals from across Europe and America, all drawn to the La Vie Bohème. In the music halls and bars of Montmartre artists, shop-girls and models mixed with the flâneur, the philosopher and the revolutionary. The conversation, like the writing, music and painting of this society was charged with anarchic energy. Yet Charlotte saw little of it and recognized even less, for in the ateliers art training remained in the past, maintaining the academic conventions. Charlotte, now in her 30s, studied earnestly and took advantage of her opportunity to learn from her masters rather than fellow students.


For the first time she was made aware of oil paint as a medium, mixing and applying colour in ways that she had never before explored. What was remarkable was that in Paris the life-class was open to female students, something unheard of in Nottingham or indeed in London, and Charlotte applied herself diligently. She continued to draw and paint in the way she had always done, preferring to copy old masters in the Louvre, especially landscapes, than investigate the ferment that was going on the contemporary art world around her. As a result, even though she must have heard of the names of the new wave artists, Manet, Monet, Renoir, Cezanne, dropped into conversations or furiously debated by fellow students, she remained untouched by their influence.


When the money ran out, Charlotte had to go back to Nottingham. Aunt West hoped that she had developed her skills sufficiently to benefit her teaching and it proved to be so. She managed to get a few hours a week teaching drawing to beginners at the Art College and the cachet of having Mrs. Johnson who “had been trained in Paris” as a tutor for their daughters was not lost on the mothers of the town. Meanwhile, Laura was fascinated by her Mother’s stories and particularly by descriptions of the shops and of fashionable ladies in their carriages bowling through the parks. Janet Dunbar, whose text, informed by conversations with the artist later in life, tells of Laura’s lasting memory of her Mother’s return from Paris ‘dressed in a green costume and a bonnet trimmed with flowers, Aunt West’s parting gifts’.


While the domestic world of the Johnson girls was confined to the Radford neighbourhood, their experience was not limited. Mother often took them farther afield on holiday painting trips. Once, Laura was taken to Lathkildale in Derbyshire where she practiced skimming stones across the mill-pond while Mother painted. Occasionally the girls were taken for a holiday to Rowsley, also in the Derbyshire Peak District, where for a few shillings weekly they stayed on a local farm and fed simply on bread, cheese and milk. They walked daily the short distance to Haddon Hall, the long-empty Elizabethan house once the seat of the Manners family. Familiar through Sir Walter Scott’s novel Peveril of the Peak (1823), the origins of Haddon go back to an illegitimate son of William the Conqueror, Peveril, who ultimately held land – “The Honour of Peveril” – throughout the East Midlands, including Nottingham Castle. It was a fine and mysterious place with romantic associations.


Ballad and legend tell of how in 1563 the fifteen-year-old Dorothy Vernon, the daughter of Sir George Vernon, “King of the Peak”, eloped with John Manners, the second son of Thomas, 1st Earl of Rutland. Sir George disapproved of the union since the Manners were Protestants and the Vernons were Roman Catholic. The allure of their romance resonated throughout and beyond the 19th century in novel and film but for Laura it was a reality. Mother had a pass-key to the then empty Hall and made the bedchamber of Dorothy Vernon her studio. There, sitting in the fireplace, the children would feed the mice and rats with crumbs. Interestingly the scenic backdrop painted by Mother (with help from Laura herself) for the production of Alice was a scaled–up version of one of her sketches from this Derbyshire holiday, showing the steps down which Dorothy Vernon was said to have eloped.


While other better-off Nottingham children like their neighbours the Lees, regularly packed their buckets and spades and made for the coast at Skegness on Bank Holidays (which had been enshrined in law since 1871), Laura saw the sea for the first time at the age of nine. While Nellie was taken to Great Yarmouth by Uncle Arthur, Sis and Laura were invited to join Mr Cruickshank’s family on a six week trip to Ayr in Scotland. What an adventure that was! Barefoot and carefree, this was their chance to live a life of sheer abandonment. In and out of the water, with the gulls, the smell of seaweed, the hoot of the paddle-steamer and soft white baps for breakfast every day, their horizons expanded and their appetites were sharpened. One day they visited Robbie Burns’ cottage at Alloway, coming away with souvenirs, but the promised trip to the Isle of Arran had to be abandoned because of rough seas – the only day of poor weather over the whole stay. On their return train journey, as they travelled over the Border Laura caused great embarrassment to the rest of the party by impetuously standing up in the crowded third class carriage to recite familiar lines from Scott’s The Lay of the Last Minstrel:








Breathes there the man, with soul so dead,


Who never to himself hath said,


This is my own, my native land!


Whose heart ne’er within him burn’d,


As home his footsteps he hath turn’d


From wandering on a foreign strand!











Laura could never resist an audience. Ever the self-publicist and always ready to perform, this bravado was an essential part of her character. Time and again she draws attention to herself, presenting to the world a dramatic persona that is all bluster and pomp. She was a strong-willed and jealous child, often spiteful to her sister Sis. As such she was never an easy child to manage. Without wishing to attempt an analysis of her psychological make-up, it is almost certain that as the youngest child, gifted and made much of, she must, nonetheless, have been curious as to why her Mother had left her Father and wondered (as children do) if she was in any way responsible. Her Mother never mentioned him except to warn the girls against repeating any gossip they heard. Insecurity often shows itself in boldness, exaggeration and a compulsion to show off and what this hides often never comes out of the shadows.


Back in Nottingham after their holidays, Mother greeted their return with consternation, for in those six weeks they had outgrown clothes and shoes and there was precious little money available to buy new. Laura too was dismayed to find that while she had been away the two white mice which she had hoped to train to walk the clothes line in the back yard, had been eaten by the cat. Over the next two years her domestic world was to contract in other ways. Little Grandma died on the 26th May 1889 in her ninety seventh year. Laura was allowed to see the body laid out in the coffin and never forgot the sight of the gaping mouth beneath the lace cap and the pennies on the eyes, nor the smell of varnish and the glint of brass handles. After the funeral at the General Cemetery the girls were taken for a long walk round the Forest race-track by Uncle Arthur’s friend Mr Cruickshank, returning home to sausages and coconut cakes. It is another early instance of how food is always an important element in Laura’s memories, marking events and giving comfort and assurance.


Laura, like her sisters when they left primary school, attended Brincliffe School on the Forest Road at the top of Noel Street. Mother taught art there in return for free education for the girls. Charlotte Johnson still aspired to be a professional artist and attended classes at the Art School when she could fit them in between caring for the girls, earning a living teaching and taking in private pupils. That way she more or less made ends meet. In fragile health, at the limit of her own capacity for teaching and given her own experience of marriage, she was determined that her girls be economically self-sufficient. As a result Nellie left school at fourteen and was found a teaching place at the local Board School where she worked as a pupil-teacher in the day and studying at the University College at night, doing her homework into the small hours. Sis followed the same pattern and became a pupil teacher at eleven rising twelve. However, when Laura was twelve an invitation came from Aunt West-Ther for her to go to St Quentin. There she would perfect her French in order (wonder of wonders!) to go to Paris to study art. Big Grandma, who was very fond of her sister and occasionally visited her in France just as Aunt West-Ther regularly came over to Nottingham, was to accompany Laura on the journey. Laura was ecstatic but, as the eldest sister, Nellie was upset at being overlooked.





[image: ]

Family photograph, 1882. Back row left to right: Sis, Mother, her sister Elizabeth Boyell (née Bates); middle row seated left to right: Big Grandma, Nellie and front row left to right: Little Grandma, Laura, Reggie Boyell (the ‘mardy boy’). This photograph is mentioned in Oil Paint and Grease Paint, p.20. Courtesy of Charlotte Bedford








When the time came to prepare for departure, Nellie was ill. A major influenza epidemic swept Europe in 1889 and, weakened by relentless work and never robust, Nellie succumbed to what was called at the time the grippe. The doctor assured them that despite a high temperature and physical weakness Nellie was not dangerously ill. Therefore there was no need to postpone the visit. So preparations began. Given that Mother was pre-occupied with nursing the invalid, Laura had, with a local seamstress’ help, to cut out and sew her own few clothes, then pack her trunk herself. It seemed to Laura that Nellie was deliberately sabotaging her triumph for there is an element of resentment in Laura’s recorded response to her sister’s tearful farewell. On the sick girl’s pronouncement that they would ‘never see’ one another again, Laura believed it to be unnecessarily dramatic and, impatient and excited, set out for the lace factory at St Quentin with only a brief backward glance.


After a bad crossing and violent sea-sickness, they landed at Calais where Laura, much to her disgust, had to kiss a woman who was serving behind the bar at the estaminet. This distant member of the family (possibly a relation of Big Grandma’s sister Emma Redfern who with her husband had superintended a lace mill there in the 1850s) ‘had a painted face and lots of yellow hair, that looked false’. However, a substantial meal made up for the hair and the kiss, especially the bouillon with alphabet letters that you could arrange in the bottom of the plate to spell your name. At Lille they were approached by a plausible woman who told them that they had missed the Basle train and offered them overnight lodgings. Big Grandma, believing that they had indeed missed the connection, accepted her kind offer. But even as the pair left the station in her company, their train arrived and a horrified porter, quickly apprising the situation, violently extracted them and their luggage from her clutches. He had saved them from, what Uncle Jack West dramatically told them the next day, were ‘White Slave Traffickers’. For them both, this was a frightening initiation into the dangers of foreign travel. It was a relief to reach their destination.


St Quentin at that time was an historical textile and lace-making town. Situated at a strategic position on the River Somme and close to the Belgian border, over the centuries it had been regularly contested by opposing armies and was to be razed to the ground during the First World War. When Laura visited it was a frontier town reminiscent of the Wild West. Lawless and dangerous with rape and murder commonplace, the streets were forbidden territory to women and children. Great Aunt West kept a loaded revolver at her bedside. Laura noted that beyond the high wall and trees that protected the factory on one side two gasometers could be seen. On the other side she could see the canal crossing the fields that Aunt West told her had been fiercely fought over during the Franco-Prussian War in 1870. After the battle she had gone out to tend the wounded and dying and, despite there being several Prussians billeted in the house, had secretly protected a young French soldier who had turned up in tears on the doorstep. The story was troubling for Laura. He was only sixteen, the same age as Nellie and, as Great Aunt West said, much too young to fight let alone to die.
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